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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

KG URBAN ENTERPRISES, LLC
Plaintiff,

V. Case No. 1:11-cv-12070
DEVAL L. PATRICK, in his

official capacity as Governor of

the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, and

STEPHEN CROSBY, GAYLE
CAMERON, ENRIQUE ZUNIGA,
JAMES MCHUGH, and BRUCE
STEBBINS, in their official capacities as
Chairman and Commissioners of the
Massachusetts Gaming Commission

Defendants.
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PLAINTIFE’S FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR
DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

Plaintiff KG Urban Enterprises, LLC, by its undersigned attorneys, brings this first

amended complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief, and alleges as follows:
NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This is an action to declare invalid and to enjoin certain provisions of legislation
signed into law on November 22, 2011 that authorizes casino gaming in the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts. See An Act Establishing Expanded Gaming in the Commonwealth, St. 2011,
€.194 (“Act”). In particular, section 91(e) of the Act violates the Equal Protection Clause and the
Massachusetts Declaration of Rights because it contains explicit, race-based set-asides that give

federally recognized Indian tribes a categorical advantage over all other applicants in seeking a
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commercial gaming license in Southeastern Massachusetts. The Act also impermissibly
disadvantages the Southeastern region relative to the rest of the Commonwealth based on
nothing more than its proximity to Indian tribes.

2. The Gaming Commission has further violated the Equal Protection Clause and
Declaration of Rights by refusing to open the Southeastern region to a competitive, race-neutral
commercial application process such as the process that is already underway in the other two
regions of the Commonwealth, even after the Department of the Interior rejected the initial
compact that triggered the Act’s race-based set-asides.

3. Plaintiff KG Urban Enterprises, LLC (“KG”) is an equity development company
that specializes in the redevelopment and adaptive re-use of urban brownfield sites. Over the
past five years, KG has invested millions of dollars in preparing a comprehensive plan for
converting an abandoned and polluted power plant and 29-acre waterfront site in downtown New
Bedford into a $1 billion multi-use property that includes a casino gaming floor, restaurants, a
hotel, retail shops, and a conference center. But because of the Act’s racial set-aside provisions
for Indian tribes in the Southeastern region, and the Commission’s ongoing refusal to initiate a
race-neutral application process, KG remains unable to apply for a gaming license, even as
commercial gaming applications move forward in the other two regions and even as KG
continues to suffer irreparable injury.

4. KG seeks a declaratory judgment that the Act’s racial set-asides violate the Equal
Protection Clause and the Massachusetts Declaration of Rights, and that the Gaming
Commissioners have unlawfully refused to open the Southeast to the same competitive process
that is currently being implemented in the other two regions. KG also seeks preliminary and

permanent injunctive relief precluding the Commonwealth from enforcing the unconstitutional
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provisions of the Act and ordering the Gaming Commission to commence a race-neutral
application process in the Southeast on the same terms as the application process in the other two
regions.

THE PARTIES

5. Plaintiff KG Urban Enterprises, LLC is a property development company that
specializes in the redevelopment and adaptive re-use of urban brownfield sites. KG’s office is
located at 125 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10017.

6. Defendant Deval L. Patrick is Governor of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
and is sued solely in his official capacity. Governor Patrick maintains his principal office at the
Massachusetts State House, Office of the Governor, Room 280, Boston, Massachusetts, 02133.

7. Defendants Stephen Crosby, Gayle Cameron, Enrique Zuniga, James McHugh,
and Bruce Stebbins are the Chairman and Commissioners of the Massachusetts Gaming
Commission, and are sued solely in their official capacities. The Gaming Commission maintains

an office at 84 State Street, Suite 720, Boston, MA 02109.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
8. This action is brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202
to redress violations of the United States Constitution and Massachusetts Declaration of Rights.
This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1331, 1343(a), and 1367.
9. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b). All Defendants

reside in this judicial district.
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A The Act’s Competitive, Race-Neutral Application Process for Gaming
Licenses in the Boston Area and Western Massachusetts

10.  On November 22, 2011, Governor Patrick signed legislation authorizing a
significant expansion of legalized gaming in Massachusetts. The Commonwealth had previously
allowed only bingo, horse and greyhound racing (including simulcast wagering), and the
Massachusetts Lottery, but the Act authorizes up to three resort-style casinos — one each in the
greater Boston area, Western Massachusetts, and Southeastern Massachusetts — that will offer
table games and slot machines, as well as hotel and entertainment facilities. See Act § 16,
sec. 19(a). The Act refers to the three resort-style casinos as the “category 1” facilities. See Act
§ 16, sec. 2.

11. The Act also authorizes one license for a “slot parlor” facility containing up to
1,250 slot machines, which is referred to as the “category 2” license. See id. secs. 2, 20.
Because the challenged set-aside for Indian tribes does not apply to the category 2 license, KG
will not address the requirements for obtaining that license.

12.  The Act creates a five-member Massachusetts Gaming Commission
(“Commission”), and vests that body with broad authority to oversee casino gaming in the
Commonwealth. See id. secs. 3-6. In particular, the Commission is responsible for “issu[ing] a
request for applications” for gaming licenses. Id. sec. 8(a). The Act requires applicants for a
gaming license to provide extensive information about their development proposals, finances,
and corporate structures, including but not limited to: the identity of all persons with an interest
in the business; “clear and convincing evidence of financial stability”; a description of proposed
internal controls and security systems; a description of mitigation measures for compulsive

gambling; the design of the proposed casino and the construction timetable; a description of

4



Case 1:11-cv-12070-NMG Document 83 Filed 01/07/13 Page 5 of 22

hotel, restaurant, and entertainment facilities; the number of workers to be employed, including
pay and benefit information; studies showing the economic benefit to the region and estimated
tax revenue; and an assessment of the facility’s impact on the environment and public
infrastructure. 1d. sec. 9(a).

13.  The Act further provides that “[n]o applicant shall be eligible to receive a gaming
license” at all unless it meets sixteen enumerated criteria, such as: paying a $400,000 application
fee, identifying a “mitigation plan” for infrastructure costs in the host community, owning the
land on which the casino will be built (or having the ability to acquire such land within 60 days),
receiving a binding vote from the host community in support of its application, and adopting an
affirmative-action plan for construction and operation of the gaming facility. 1d. sec 15.

14.  After receiving an application for a gaming license, the Commission must
commence an investigation into the “suitability” of the applicant, including its “integrity,
honesty, good character and reputation,” its “financial stability,” its “business practices,” and its
“history of compliance with gaming licensing requirements in other jurisdictions.” Id. sec. 12(a).

15. In deciding whether to grant a license to a particular applicant, the Commission
must consider how that applicant’s proposal would advance nineteen enumerated objectives,
including: maximizing capital investment; protecting the state lottery from adverse impacts;
protecting local businesses in surrounding communities; developing programs to prevent
compulsive gambling; utilizing sustainable development principles; providing high-quality jobs
with opportunities for advancement; and maximizing tax revenues. Id. sec. 18.

16.  The Commission must conduct a public hearing on each application in the
proposed host community, and must issue a final decision within 90 days after the hearing. See

id. sec.17(c)-(e).
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17.  Asuccessful applicant for a gaming license must pay a one-time license fee of at
least $85 million, must commit to making a capital investment of at least $500 million, and must
pay a 25 percent daily tax on gross gaming revenue. Id. secs. 10, 55(a). The licensee must also
comply with twenty-five additional requirements regarding tax payments, capital expenditures,
law enforcement, ownership structure, compulsive gambling, and affirmative action for
employees and suppliers. See id. sec. 21.

18. The Act provides that each gaming license ““shall be valid for an initial period of
15 years,” and instructs the Commission to establish procedures for the “renewal” of those
licenses. Id. sec. 19(b).

B. The Tribal Set-Aside Provisions for Southeastern Massachusetts

19.  These finely calibrated regulatory provisions were not immediately applicable in
the Southeastern region. The Act refers to the Southeast as “Region C,” which includes Bristol,
Plymouth, Nantucket, Dukes, and Barnstable counties. See id. sec. 19(a).

20.  After establishing the general procedures for awarding gaming licenses through a
competitive, merit-based application process, the Act created an entirely separate set of
procedures that apply only to federally recognized Indian tribes seeking to engage in gaming in
the Southeastern region.

21.  There are two federally recognized Indian tribes in Massachusetts — the Mashpee
Wampanoag Tribe and the Wampanoag Tribe of Gay Head (Aquinnah). Both have indicated
that they intend to pursue gaming in Southeastern Massachusetts.

22.  The Aquinnah currently possess only a small parcel of land on a remote corner of

Martha’s Vineyard. Massachusetts state officials have taken the position that the Aquinnah
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waived any rights to conduct gaming in the Commonwealth by virtue of a 1985 settlement of
land claims.

23. Under the Commonwealth’s view, only one Indian tribe, the Mashpee
Wampanoag, is eligible to pursue tribal gaming. The Mashpee Wampanoag tribe possesses no
Indian lands in Massachusetts.

24.  The Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, 25 U.S.C. 88 2701-2721 (“IGRA”), limits
federally approved tribal gaming to “Indian lands.” The term “Indian lands” refers to all lands
within a tribe’s reservation and any lands over which a tribe exercises governmental power that
are (1) held in trust by the United States for the benefit of a tribe or (2) held by a tribe subject to
restriction by the United States against alienation. Id. 8 2703.

25.  The federal process for taking new land into trust under the Indian Reorganization
Act, 25 U.S.C. § 465, remains, at best, in a state of paralysis in the wake of Carcieri v. Salazar,
555 U.S. 379 (2009). There is no prospect that a currently landless tribe first recognized after
1934 will be in a position to engage in casino-style gaming consistent with IGRA in the
foreseeable future.

26.  The Act nonetheless granted “federally recognized Indian tribes” (and, given the
Commonwealth’s position on the effect of the Aquinnah’s settlement, a single tribe) an exclusive
regional monopoly throughout the entire Southeast until July 31, 2012.

27.  Section 91(a) of the Act provides that “[n]otwithstanding any general or special
law or rule or regulation to the contrary” — such as the exhaustive, race-neutral application
procedures outlined above — “the governor may enter into a compact with a federally

recognized Indian tribe in the [Clommonwealth.” Act § 91(a).
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28.  The Act categorically precluded the consideration of an application by any non-
Indian entity in the Southeastern region until July 31, 2012. The Commission was authorized to
“issue a request for applications” for a gaming license in the Southeast for non-tribal applicants
if, but only, if “a mutually agreed-upon compact has not been negotiated by the governor and
Indian tribe or if such compact has not been approved by the [G]eneral [C]ourt before July 31,
2012.” Id. § 91(e).

29.  The Act thus granted a single Indian tribe a right of first refusal on a casino in the
Southeastern region. If a tribe entered into a gaming compact with the governor before July 31,
2012 and the General Court approved that compact, then the Commission would be prohibited
from even considering applications from non-tribal entities for a gaming license in the Southeast,
regardless of the economic merits of their proposals. See id.

30. In contrast to the substantial requirements for a commercial gaming license, the
Act’s requirements for a tribal-gaming applicant are minimal. The governor can negotiate a
compact only with a tribe that has “purchased, or entered into an agreement to purchase, a parcel
of land for the proposed tribal gaming development and scheduled a vote in the host
communities for approval of the proposed tribal gaming development.” 1d. § 91(c). And the
tribal-state gaming compact must be “submitted to the [G]eneral [C]ourt for approval,” along
with a “statement of the financial investment rights of any individual or entity which has made
an investment to the tribe . . . for the purpose of securing a gaming license.” 1d. § 91(d). But
those were the only requirements to grant a tribe an exclusive, region-wide gaming monopoly
throughout the entire Southeastern region. Compare supra, { 11-17 (describing extensive

substantive and procedural requirements for non-tribal license applicants).
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31. The Act, on its face, thus categorically excluded non-tribal entities from seeking a
gaming license in the Southeastern region until at least July 31, 2012. That race-based exclusion
of competition could be made permanent if a tribe satisfied the Act’s unique state-law
conditions.

32.  The Act, on its face, also placed the economically depressed Southeastern region
at a disadvantage compared to the other two regions. In Eastern and Western Massachusetts,
gaming licenses will be awarded through an open and fair application process that is carefully
designed to choose the best proposal on the merits, thus maximizing economic development, job
creation, tax revenue, and other benefits to the area. In contrast, because of the tribal set-aside
provision, a casino in the Southeast will likely be awarded through a closed, one-sided process in
which Indian tribes are given a categorical advantage over all other applicants, regardless of the
economic merits of the tribes’ gaming proposals. And, as noted below, the Department of the
Interior has signaled that the Commonwealth’s share of tribal gaming revenue cannot exceed
6.5%, compared to 25% for a commercial licensee. The Southeast is singled out for this
disfavored treatment not because of race-neutral factors such as the need for economic
revitalization — which would only favor the Southeast — but instead because of its proximity to
Indian tribes.

C. The Signing and Rejection of the Mashpee Gaming Compact

33.  The Mashpee initially met the Act’s state-law conditions for obtaining a region-
wide, race-based gaming monopoly in the Southeast.

34.  OnlJuly 12, 2012, the Mashpee and the Commonwealth entered into a gaming
compact for a casino that would be built on a parcel of land in Taunton. The Taunton site is a

former industrial park at the intersection of Route 24 and Route 140 on which the tribe has
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acquired purchase options through an ordinary real estate deal. This parcel has not been taken
into trust by the Secretary of the Interior.

35.  Section 4.1 of the compact provided that the Mashpee could offer class IlI
gaming—i.e., table games and slot machines—if and only if it did so on Indian lands pursuant to
IGRA. Section 3.3 similarly provided that the tribe may conduct gaming only on an “Approved
Gaming Site” that consisted of “Indian lands, as defined in IGRA, that is legally eligible under
IGRA for the conduct of” gaming.

36. At the time the compact was signed, the parties expressly recognized that “[t]he
Tribe presently has no lands held in trust, for Gaming purposes or otherwise.” Compact § 9.1.1.
The Governor agreed in the compact to “support” the tribe’s land-in-trust application. Id. 8§ 2.11,
80.1.6.

37.  Section 2.8 of the compact recognized that neither federal nor Massachusetts law
required the Governor to negotiate a compact that provides an exclusive regional monopoly to a
tribe.

38.  Section 9.2.1 of the compact required the Mashpee to pay 21.5% of all gross
gaming revenue from a Taunton casino to the Commonwealth. Section 9.2.4 recognized the
potential for commercial competition in the Southeast, providing that if a commercial gaming
license were awarded in Region C, then the tribe could either cease operations and terminate the
compact or continue operations but reduce its payments to the Commonwealth to 15% of gross
gaming revenue.

39.  Section 5.2.2 of the compact provided that if the Department of the Interior did
not accept the Taunton parcel into trust, the tribe could seek “alternative land in Region C” while

still retaining its regional monopoly.

10
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40.  The compact provided that it would “become effective upon the publication of
notice of approval by the United States Secretary of the Interior in the Federal Register in
accordance with” IGRA. Compact § 22. If the compact were rejected by the Secretary of the
Interior, the Governor agreed to “immediately resume negotiations in good faith with the Tribe
for an amended compact.” Compact § 18.8.

41.  After the compact was signed, Governor Patrick boasted that it was “among the
most lucrative deals negotiated by any state.” The Governor also stated his belief that there will
be a Mashpee casino in Taunton “whether it’s a commercial facility or a tribal facility.”

42.  The Massachusetts House of Representatives approved the compact on July 18,
2012, and the Massachusetts Senate approved the compact on July 26, 2012, thus meeting the
Act’s deadline for extending the regional gaming monopoly throughout the Southeast.

43.  On October 12, 2012, the Department of the Interior (“DOI”) rejected the
compact between the Mashpee and the Commonwealth in an 18-page letter (attached as Ex. A).
See 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d).

44.  DOI found that the compact’s 21.5% revenue-sharing arrangement was an
“impermissible tax, fee, charge, or other assessment, in violation of IGRA.”

45, DOl rejected many of the purported concessions by the Commonwealth that were
invoked to justify that unprecedented 21.5% charge on the ground that the Commonwealth was
doing no more than IGRA already required. The racial set-aside was different. DOI recognized
that “the Commonwealth was not required to concede any form of gaming exclusivity to the
Tribe nor was the Tribe entitled to such exclusivity.”

46. DOI further found that the inclusion of collateral issues, such as hunting and

fishing rights, in a gaming compact was “not permissible under IGRA.”

11
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47. DOl identified at least three other provisions of the compact that “could also
violate IGRA and provide us with separate bases to disapprove the compact,” but found it
unnecessary to address these provisions in light of its rejection of the compact on the grounds
mentioned above. DOI noted that it would “scrutinize these [additional] provisions carefully” if
they were included in a future compact.

48. Following the rejection of the compact, Governor Patrick asserted that he would
resume compact negotiations “in earnest.” Nearly three months later, a new compact still has not
been signed.

49.  The Mashpee have filed an application seeking to have the Taunton land, as well
as another parcel in Mashpee, taken into trust by the Secretary of the Interior. That application
remains pending, and there is no deadline by which DOI must act on the application. The tribe’s
land-in-trust application is not publicly available at this time, although KG has sought to obtain it
through a Freedom of Information Act request.

D. The Commission’s Ongoing Refusal to Open the Southeast to a Race-
Neutral, Merit-Based Commercial Application Process

50. A race-neutral, competitive application process is well underway in the Eastern
and Western regions (Regions A and B). On October 19, 2012, the Gaming Commission began
soliciting “Phase 17 applications for commercial gaming licenses in Regions A and B. Those
applications (as well as the $400,000 application fee) are currently due January 15, 2013.
Applicants that pass this initial “pre-qualification” or “suitability”” process will then prepare and
submit more detailed applications by October 2013. The Commission has announced that it
plans to award commercial gaming licenses in Regions A and B by February 2014.

51.  Although the Commission unquestionably has authority to initiate a similar

competitive process in Region C, it has steadfastly refused to do so.

12
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52.  Atits public meetings on December 4 and December 11, 2012, the Commission
discussed various proposals for opening Region C to commercial competition. One such
proposal would have involved a “dual-track” process in which the Commission began accepting
commercial applications while reserving the right to jettison that merit-based process if the
Mashpee made “sufficient progress” toward a tribal casino. That proposal would have included
no deadline, thus giving the Mashpee perpetual veto power over commercial gaming in the
Southeast.

53. KG offered extensive comments explaining why a dual-track process would be
deeply flawed from a business perspective, and would not provide sufficient certainty to attract
viable commercial applicants. KG urged the Commission to open the Southeast to a truly fair
process in which the most qualified applicant would be guaranteed to receive a gaming license.

54.  Atits December 18, 2012 meeting, the Gaming Commission refused to take any
steps toward a commercial application process in Region C. Instead, the Commission postponed
action on this issue for another 90 days, thus leaving the Southeast in limbo until Spring 2013 at
the earliest.

55.  As Chairman Crosby explained in a memorandum dated December 17, 2012, this
postponement was “requested by the Mashpee tribe.” The Commission has refused to open the
Southeast to commercial competition in order “to provide the Tribe a reasonable opportunity to
demonstrate its ability to claim the Region C license that was envisioned in the enabling
Legislation.”

56.  Aside from accommodating the tribe’s request, the Commission has articulated no

reason for its ongoing refusal to open Region C to commercial applications.
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E. KG’s Investment in the Cannon Street Station Project

57.  KG is an equity development company that specializes in the redevelopment and
adaptive re-use of urban brownfield sites. KG employs an integrated method of development
that incorporates gaming, retail, cultural, and commercial activities into the same project, with no
artificial barriers between the development and the surrounding community. While many other
developers build casinos on undeveloped “greenfield” sites near highway interchanges, those
projects require significant alteration of the natural landscape and the extension of roads, bridges,
water pipes, power lines, and sewer services to the new sites; they also remain physically
isolated from nearby communities. In contrast, KG’s “urban gaming” model focuses on the
principles of walkability, connectivity, and sustainability, and focuses in particular on former
industrial sites and the rehabilitation of the vintage industrial structures found on such sites.

58.  KG’s principals are partners in a joint venture that recently completed the initial
phases of an urban gaming redevelopment project on the 130-acre Bethlehem Steel site in
Bethlehem, Pennsylvania. That joint venture, with Las Vegas Sands Corporation, invested more
than $900 million to convert an abandoned and deteriorating steel plant site into a thriving,
multi-use property that includes casino gaming, hotel, entertainment, and retail components.

59. In February 2007, KG began the process of identifying suitable property for an
urban gaming development project in Massachusetts, which had been on the verge of legalizing
casino gaming for several years. After studying several sites in New Bedford — an industrial
city that fit the profile of KG’s business model — KG identified a site that currently houses an
abandoned power plant known as Cannon Street Station.

60. Based on a careful market study and exhaustive site analysis, KG identified the

Cannon Street property as an ideal candidate for redevelopment because of its proximity to

14
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downtown New Bedford’s cultural and entertainment center, its location on the historic New
Bedford harbor, and the dramatic physical presence of the vintage power plant structure. KG
also concluded that the economically depressed region around New Bedford would benefit
greatly from the jobs, development, and tax revenue that that the Cannon Street Station project
would provide.

61. Upon identifying the Cannon Street property, KG assembled a team of nationally
recognized experts to evaluate all aspects of the property and begin creating a master plan for the
site’s redevelopment and environmental cleanup. This team consisted of environmental
remediation firms, a casino design firm, an open space and landscape design firm, a historic
preservationist, a nationally recognized interior design firm, engineering and project
management firms, and a team of attorneys. According to the concept plans, KG and a joint
venture partner would rehabilitate the Cannon Street property, remediate environmental
contamination, and stabilize both the Cannon Street power plant and the antique granite foundry
located on the property. The concept plans include designs for a multi-level casino, a hotel,
restaurants, a conference center, retail shops, parking garages, and an exhibition hall. This entire
property will sit directly on the city’s historic harbor and street grid, with walking connections
throughout downtown New Bedford.

62. If KG ultimately receives a gaming license for the Cannon Street site, the total
project investment is estimated to be in excess of $1 billion. This figure includes approximately
$50 million for a privately financed cleanup of the severe environmental contamination on the
property.

63.  To date, KG has invested more than five years of work and approximately $4.6

million in direct costs to prepare its comprehensive development plan for the Cannon Street
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Station project. That investment is specific to the Cannon Street site. It would take years of
work and millions of dollars of additional investment for KG to identify another site with similar
characteristics and to prepare a comprehensive development proposal for that site.

64.  KG’s Cannon Street investment is not self-sustaining. KG must make escalating
monthly option payments and periodic lump sum premium payments to keep options open on
both the Cannon Street Station property and a replacement site for the current owner of that
property. KG also incurs ongoing legal expenses to maintain those option contracts.

F. KG’s Irreparable Injury

65.  KG intends to apply for a commercial gaming license for the Cannon Street site as
soon as it is permitted to do so.

66. Because of the Act’s race-based set-asides and the Commission’s refusal to
initiate a race-neutral commercial application process in Region C, KG remains unable to apply
for a gaming license, regardless of the economic merits of its proposal.

67.  The pervasive uncertainty over whether Region C will ever be opened for
commercial applications through a fair, race-neutral process has caused commercial gaming
operators and investors to steer clear of the Southeast. Regions A and B have attracted numerous
proposals from major national gaming operators, while the Southeast remains a dead zone for
everybody other than the Mashpee and their commercial partner (the Genting Group, a
Malaysian gaming conglomerate).

68. As aresult of the Act’s tribal set-asides and the Commission’s actions, there is a
substantial likelihood that the casinos in Regions A and B—in which there has been an open
application process from day one, with no tribal preference—will become operational before the

casino in Region C. The licensees in Regions A and B have had and will continue to have a
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substantial head start in seeking investors, development partners, customers, and advertisers.
The application process for Regions A and B is well underway, but the Southeast remains in
limbo.

69.  The Act’s tribal set-asides and the Commission’s ongoing refusal to open
Region C to a merit-based application process will ensure that the Mashpee (backed by their
commercial partner, the Genting Group) have a massive head start over non-tribal applicants in
the event Region C is someday opened to a competitive application process. Indeed, Governor
Patrick has expressly stated that he believes there will be a Mashpee casino in Taunton “whether
it’s a commercial facility or a tribal facility.”

70. By reason of the foregoing, KG has suffered, and will continue to suffer,
irreparable harm as a result of the Act’s explicit preferences for Indian tribes and the
Commission’s refusal to initiate a race-neutral application process in Region C. KG has no
adequate remedy at law for this harm.

COUNT |
(Violation of the Federal Equal Protection Clause — Gaming Act)

71. KG hereby repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 70 above.

72. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that “[n]o
State shall . . . deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.”

73.  The Act, on its face, treats gaming license applicants differently on the basis of
race.

74. Until July 31, 2012, the Act gave federally recognized Indian tribes the exclusive
right to seek a gaming license in the Southeastern region. See Act 8 91(e). Non-Indians were
categorically barred even from applying for a license during that period, regardless of the

economic merits of their proposals. If an Indian tribe entered a gaming compact with the
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governor that was approved by the General Court before July 31, 2012, the Commission was
barred from even “issu[ing] a request for applications” from non-tribal entities. Id. § 91(e).

75.  The Mashpee tribe initially claimed this race-based regional monopoly by
negotiating a compact before the July 31, 2012 deadline. That compact has now been rejected as
unlawful by the Department of the Interior.

76.  To the extent the Act has provided and continues to provide regional exclusivity
to a landless Indian tribe, this is a plainly race-based set-aside that must satisfy strict scrutiny.

77.  There is no compelling, or even legitimate, government interest that could justify
these explicitly race-based set-asides. And even if there were, the Act’s categorical preferences
for Indian tribes are not narrowly tailored to advancing that interest.

78. Because IGRA does not mandate that a state provide a tribe with regional
exclusivity, the Act’s tribal preferences cannot be justified as implementing IGRA.

79.  Section 91(e) of the Act accordingly violates the Equal Protection Clause.

COUNT Il
(Violation of the Equal Protection Clause — Refusal to Open
Southeast to a Competitive Process)

80. KG hereby repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 79 above.

81.  The Gaming Commission has authority under the Act to commence in Region C
the same race-neutral, competitive application process that is already underway in Regions A
and B.

82.  To date, the Gaming Commission has refused to initiate a competitive application
process in Region C. The Gaming Commission’s sole reason for this refusal is to give Indian

tribes a “reasonable opportunity” to become eligible for IGRA-compliant gaming.
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83.  The Gaming Commission has refused to set any deadline for how long it intends
to wait before opening the Southeast to a race-neutral, competitive application process.

84.  There is no compelling, or even legitimate, government interest that could justify
the Commission’s ongoing exclusion of competition on account of race.

85. IGRA does not require the Commission to put commercial gaming on hold in
order to accommodate Indian tribes.

86.  The Gaming Commissioners are accordingly violating the Equal Protection
Clause.

COUNT Il
(Violation of the Massachusetts Declaration of Rights)

87. KG hereby repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 86 above.

88.  Article 1 of the Massachusetts Declaration of Rights, as amended by article 106 of
the Amendments, provides that “[e]quality under the law shall not be denied or abridged because
of sex, race, color, creed, or national origin.” Mass Const. art. CVI.

89.  The Act treats applicants for a gaming license in Southeastern Massachusetts
differently on the basis of race.

90.  The Gaming Commission is treating applicants for a gaming license in the
Southeast differently on the basis of race.

91. No legitimate or compelling government interest can justify that differential
treatment, and the Act is not narrowly tailored to achieving any such interest.

92.  The Act accordingly violates Article 1 of the Massachusetts Declaration of
Rights, as amended by Article 106.

93.  The Gaming Commission is accordingly violating Article 1 of the Massachusetts

Declaration of Rights, as amended by Article 106.
19
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RELIEF REQUESTED
KG respectfully requests that this Court grant judgment in its favor and:

i Declare that Section 91(e) of the Act, which gives federally recognized Indian
tribes an exclusive race-based monopoly throughout the entire Southeast region, violates the
federal Equal Protection Clause and Massachusetts Declaration of Rights, and is thus invalid,
null, and void,;

ii. Declare that the Gaming Commission’s refusal to open the Southeast to a race-
neutral commercial application process solely because a landless Indian tribe might someday be
eligible for tribal gaming violates the federal Equal Protection Clause and Massachusetts
Declaration of Rights;

iii. Preliminarily and permanently enjoin Defendants from enforcing the regional
exclusivity provisions of the Act;

iv. Order the Gaming Commission to immediately commence a commercial
application process in Region C under the same race-neutral terms and conditions that apply in
Regions A and B, including provisions designed to ensure that non-tribal gaming applicants are
not placed at an unfair disadvantage as a result of the lengthy delay in opening the Southeast to a
competitive process; and

V. Award any other relief, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, see,

e.g., 42 U.S.C. § 1988, that the Court deems just and proper.

20
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January 7, 2013 Respectfully submitted,

[s/ Paul D. Clement

Paul D. Clement (pro hac vice)
Jeffrey M. Harris (pro hac vice)
BANCROFT PLLC

1919 M Street, N.W., Suite 470
Washington, D.C. 20036

(202) 234-0090

Alexander Furey, BBO #634157
Kevin M. Considine, BBO #542253
CONSIDINE & FUREY, LLP

One Beacon Street, 23rd Floor
Boston, Massachusetts 02108

(617) 723-7200

Marsha A. Sajer (pro hac vice)
K&L GATES LLP

17 North Second Street, 18th Floor
Harrisburg, PA 17101

(717) 231-5849

Counsel for KG Urban Enterprises, LLC
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/sl Jeffrey M. Harris




Case 1:11-cv-12070-NMG Document 83-1 Filed 01/07/13 Page 1 of 18

United States Department of the Interior

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY
Washington, DC 20240

OCT 12 2012

Honorable Deval Patrick
Governor of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
Boston, MA 02133

Dear Governor Patrick:

On August 31, 2012, the Department of the Interior (Department) received the tribal-state class
III gaming compact (Compact) between the Mashpee Wampanoag Tribe (Tribe) and the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts (Commonwealth).

Under the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (IGRA), the Secretary may approve or disapprove a
compact within 45 days of its submission. 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(8). If the Secretary does not act
to approve or disapprove a compact within the prescribed 45-day period, IGRA provides that it is
considered to have been approved by the Secretary, “but only to the extent that the Compact is
consistent with the provisions of [IGRA].” 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(8)(C). Under IGRA, the
Department must determine whether the Compact violates IGRA, any other provision of Federal
law that does not relate to jurisdiction over gaming on Indian lands, or the trust obligation of the
United States to Indians.

DECISION

We have completed our review of the Compact, along with the additional material submitted by
the Tribe and the Commonwealth. For the following reasons discussed, the Compact is hereby
disapproved under Section 2710(d)(8)(B) of IGRA.

First, the Compact provides a significant share of the Tribe’s gaming revenue to the
Commonwealth, undermining the central premise of IGRA that Indian gaming should primarily
benefit tribes. While we have approved varying revenue sharing schemes in exchange for
tangible benefits to tribes for over 20 years, the revenue sharing provisions in this Compact go
beyond those permitted by the Department and IGRA.

Second, the parties have attempted to use the compact negotiation process to address a host of
other issues, such as the Tribe’s hunting and fishing rights and land claims, in clear
contravention of IGRA’s express limitation that gaming compacts may only address matters
directly related to gaming. This is not only a legal violation; it poses significant practical
problems. If tribal hunting and fishing rights, and land and water rights, are subject to
negotiation in gaming compacts, then other rights central to tribal sovereignty will be at stake in
gaming compacts.

Third, in the Compact, the Commonwealth has sought authority over several other activities not
related to gaming, such as regulation of non-gaming suppliers, ancillary entertainment services,
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and ancillary non-gaming amenities. Congress expressly sought to prevent states from using
gaming compacts to leverage power over sovereign tribes about matters unrelated to gaming.
This is especially important because a tribe may be strongly tempted to agree to such terms for
political expediency to obtain the state’s agreement. The Department must preserve the
important balance between tribal and state interests, and the singular focus on gaming, that
Congress envisioned when it enacted IGRA.

Finally, there are numerous additional issues mentioned below that create further problems and
concerns. We must apply IGRA in Massachusetts in the same manner we apply it to all other
states, and to all other tribes.

BACKGROUND

The Compact was entered into on July 12, 2012 between the Tribe and the Commonwealth to
govern the Tribe’s conduct of gaming on a proposed site within the Commonwealth (within or
near the City of Taunton, Massachusetts). It authorizes the Tribe to operate certain games within
a single facility on eligible lands, pursuant to IGRA. Compact at § 4.1.

1. Problematic regulatory provisions

The Compact contains a number of significant regulatory provisions that give us concern. Part 3
of the Compact sets forth the definitions of key terms used throughout the agreement. Section
3.15 defines “Enterprise” as, “any legal entity wholly-owned and controlled by the Tribe...which
lawfully owns or operates the Gaming Operation on behalf of the Tribe.”

The Compact’s definitions note important distinctions between terms used to describe the
physical locations in which gaming will and will not occur. For example, “Approved Gaming
Site” means “a single site on Indian Lands, as defined in IGRA, that is legally eligible under
IGRA for the conduct of Compact Games thereon, located within Region C[.]” Compact § 3.3.

The term “Facility” is defined as “a single building complex (including buildings not more than
one hundred (100) yards apart and connected by an enclosed walkway), located on the Approved
Gaming Site in which any Compact Game or other gambling games of any kind are offered,
played, supported, served or operated.” Compact § 3.17.

Meanwhile, the term “Gaming Enclosure™ is defined as:

[TThe Facility and any other buildings or enclosures located on the
Approved Gaming Site in which the Records of the Gaming
Operation are maintained or stored or from which any service
related to the Gaming Operation is directed, supervised, observed,
monitored, or located, and any parking lots or structures, including
hotels and other ancillary buildings, walkways, sidewalks,
roadways, improvements, and common areas on or in proximity to
the Approved Gaming Site which serve the Gaming Operation.

Compact § 3.22.
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Section 3.20 of the Compact defines “Gaming Area” as “any area in the Facility where any
Gaming, other than the operation of an authorized Wireless Gaming System, is played or offered
for play.”

One other notable defined term in the Compact is “Non-Gaming Supplier,” which means “any
Person, other than a Management Contractor or employee of the Enterprise, who sells, leases or
provides goods or services to the Enterprise for the operation of the Facility, which are not used
by the Enterprise in the operation of Compact Games.” Compact § 3.42.

Part 4 of the Compact is titled “Authorized Gaming,” and purports to regulate the Tribe’s
conduct of class II gaming under IGRA.

Part 5 of the Compact includes provisions that regulate the “Construction, Maintenance and
Operation of [the] Facility.” Under Part 5, the Tribe is required to adopt an ordinance
establishing standards “for building, fire, health and safety which are consistent with and no less
stringent than the provisions of any and all such codes that would be otherwise applicable if the
Facility were constructed on land subject to the civil jurisdiction of the Commonwealth in the
same location.” Compact § 5.4.1. Section 5.4.7 requires the Tribe to comply with the National
Environmental Policy Act and applicable Commonwealth law for any expansion or modification
of the Facility. Section 5.4.11 of the Compact provides:

Not less than fifteen (15) days before the Facility is open for
business, the Tribe shall certify to the MGC, and provide such
documentation to support the certification as the MGC requests,
that: (a) the Gaming Area and other ancillary entertainment
services and such non-gaming ancillary amenities the Tribe and the
MGC shall agree upon have been built in accordance with the
plans and specifications previously submitted to the MGC pursuant
to subpart 5.4.5; and (b) the infrastructure improvements and
traffic mitigation projects onsite and in the vicinity of the Facility
are complete in accordance with the plans previously submitted to
the MGC pursuant to subpart 5.4.5. Under no circumstances shall
the Tribe permit the Facility to open for business unless the
requirements of this subpart have been met.

Part 7 of the Compact is titled, “Licensing and Registration,” and requires employees and
vendors to become licensed by the Tribe’s regulatory authority. This Part provides:

The Enterprise shall not conduct business with any Non-Gaming
supplier unless the Non-Gaming Supplier is registered with the
TGC and has provided such information as the TGC shall require
to become registered. Non-Gaming Suppliers include, but are not
limited to: construction companies, vending machine providers,
linen suppliers, garbage handlers, facility maintenance
companies...and such other persons or entities as may be identified
by the TGC as Non-Gaming Suppliers.”

Compact § 7.7.2.
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Part 13 of the Compact is titled “Use of Net Revenues,” and limits the manner in which the Tribe
may use its Net Revenue for a prescribed list of activities.

Part 17 of the Compact allocates the exercise of criminal jurisdiction within the Gaming
Enclosure, as that term is defined in Section 3.22. This Part provides:

17.3. The Tribe and the Commonwealth agree that, in the event of
the violation of any Gaming law of the Commonwealth, or the
commission of any criminal offense against the Enterprise or the
Gaming Operation or against any Person or property at the Gaming
Enclosure, whether by or against an Indian or non-Indian, the
Commonwealth shall have and may exercise criminal jurisdiction
to prosecute such Person under its laws and in its courts.

17.4. If the Tribe adopts a Law and Order Code no less stringent
than that provided in 25 C.F.R. Part 11 and authorizes its Tribal
Court to hear criminal cases arising from offenses committed by its
members and occurring at the Gaming Enclosure, the Tribe shall
have and may exercise criminal jurisdiction concurrent with the
Commonwealth over offenses committed at the Gaming Enclosure
by members of the Tribe. Notwithstanding the foregoing and
subject to any applicable federal jurisdiction, the Commonwealth
shall have the first right of prosecution as to any crime which, if
committed in the Commonwealth outside of Indian country, would
be classified under the Commonwealth’s laws as a felony.

Compact §§ 17.3-4.

Finally, Part 18 of the Compact addresses “Miscellaneous Provisions.” Section 18.5.1 of the
Compact provides that the Tribe and the Commonwealth agree to negotiate an agreement in good
faith that “addresses measures the Tribe will use for the [collection] of state taxes that, pursuant
to federal law, are applicable to activities taking place upon, and to goods and services provided,
received or consumed upon, the Approved Gaming Site.”

2. Revenue sharing provisions

The Compact includes provisions requiring the Tribe to share a portion of its gaming revenues in
exchange for several asserted concessions. See Compact at Part 9. Under the Compact, the
Tribe is required a pay the Commonwealth 21.5 percent of its Gross Gaming Revenue. In the
event that the Commonwealth violates the Tribe’s exclusive right to operate a gaming facility in
Region C, the Tribe’s revenue sharing obligation is reduced to 15 percent of Gross Gaming
Revenues. Compact at § 9.2. The Compact does not provide for any circumstances in which the
Tribe’s revenue sharing obligations are extinguished.

In exchange for the Tribe’s revenue sharing obligations, both the Tribe and the Commonwealth
have asserted that the Commonwealth has made several meaningful concessions. These include:

e The Tribe’s exclusive right to conduct gaming in a defined geographic area (Region C)
within the Commonwealth. Compact § 9.2;
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e The Commonwealth’s agreement to ensure that the Tribe is the operator of the first
gaming facility “in a constrained finite gaming market,” — what the Tribe has termed the
“First Casino Advantage.” Supplemental Response of Mashpee Wampanoag Tribe to the
United States Department of the Interior at 2 (September 27, 2012) (First Compact
Supplement);

e The Commonwealth’s political support and cooperation in the Tribe’s efforts to have land
acquired in trust on its behalf. Compact § 9.1.6;

e The Commonwealth’s agreement “to consider resolution of various important issues
between the Tribe and the Commonwealth, such as those involving hunting, fishing, and
land use matters.” Compact § 9.2;

e The Commonwealth’s agreement to “use its best efforts to negotiate an agreement in
2013 with the Tribe to resolve certain title claims asserted by the Tribe involving land
and water in and around Mashpee, giving consideration to the conveyance to the Tribe of
some such land and water now publicly held.” Compact § 2.12.

e The ability of the Tribe to conduct gaming over the internet pursuant to Commonwealth
law, as well as its ability to offer patrons wireless gaming throughout its facility. See
Compact § 4.3.2; and § 4.7.

ANALYSIS

The Secretary may disapprove a proposed Compact under IGRA only where the Compact
violates IGRA, any other provision of Federal law that does not relate to jurisdiction over
gaming on Indian lands, or the trust obligation of the United States to Indians. 25 U.S.C.

§ 2710(d)(8)(B).

The Department is committed to adhering to IGRA’s statutory limitations on tribal-state gaming
compacts. The IGRA prohibits the imposition of a tax, fee, charge, or other assessment on
Indian gaming except to defray the state’s cost of regulating class III gaming activities.

25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(4). The IGRA further prohibits using this restriction as a basis for states
refusing to negotiate with tribes to conclude a compact. Id.

Moreover, IGRA also limits the subjects over which states and tribes may negotiate a tribal-state
gaming compact. See 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3)(C).

1. Permissible Subjects of Compact Negotiations

The IGRA established a statutory scheme that limited tribal gaming and sought to balance tribal,
state, and Federal interests in regulating gaming activities on Indian lands.

To ensure an appropriate balance between tribal and state interests, Congress limited the subjects
over which tribes and states could negotiate a class III gaming compact. Pursuant to IGRA, a
tribal-state compact may include provisions relating to:
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() the application of the criminal and civil laws and
regulations of the Indian tribe or the State that are directly
related to, and necessary for, the licensing and regulation of
such activity;

(ii) the allocation of criminal and civil jurisdiction between the
State and the Indian tribe necessary for the enforcement of
such laws and regulations;

(iii)  the assessment by the State of such activities in such
amounts as are necessary to defray the costs of regulating
such activity;

(iv)  taxation by the Indian tribe of such activity in amounts
comparable to amounts assessed by the State for
comparable activities;

v) remedies for breach of contract;

(vi)  standards for the operation of such activity and
maintenance of the gaming facility, including licensing;
and

(vil) any other subjects that are directly related to the operation
of gaming activities.

25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3)(C) (emphasis added).

Congress included the tribal-state compact provisions to account for states’ interests in the
regulation and conduct of class III gaming activities, as defined by IGRA.' Those provisions
limited the subjects over which states and tribes could negotiate a tribal-state compact.

25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3)(C). In doing so, Congress also sought to establish “boundaries to restrain
aggression by powerful states.” Rincon Band of Luiseno Indians of the Rincon Reservation, 602
F.3d 1019, 1027 (9th Cir. 2010), cert denied, 131 S. Ct. 3055 (2011) (statement of Sen. John
McCain)). The legislative history of IGRA indicates that “compacts [should not] be used as
subterfuge for imposing state jurisdiction on tribal lands." See Committee Report for IGRA, S.
Rep. 100-446 at 14.

In the Senate debate regarding S.555, which was enacted as the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act,
Senator Evans submitted:

It is my understanding that S.555 acknowledges that inherent rights
are expressly reserved to the tribes. This bill allows tribes to
relinquish some of those rights by way of compacts with the States,
in accordance with the Federal Government’s trust obligation to
the tribes. This bill should not be construed, however, to require

'25U.S.C. § 2708.
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tribes to unilaterally relinquish any other rights, powers, or
authority.

S.Rep. No. 446, 100th Cong., 2d Sess. 6 (1988), reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 3071 (emphasis
added).

Congress clearly did not intend for class III gaming compacts to be used as leverage by states to
resolve “various important issues between [tribes and states], such as those involving hunting,
fishing and land use matters[.]” Compact § 9.2.

As with revenue sharing provisions, we will review tribal-state gaming compacts with great
scrutiny to ensure that they regulate only those activities that are directly related to the operation
of gaming activities. We cannot approve a tribal-state compact that purports to interfere with
tribal regulation of community planning and land use, for example, or that regulates certain
activities in a manner that only indirectly relates to tribal gaming operations.

Nothing in IGRA or its legislative history indicates that Congress intended to allow gaming
compacts to be used to expand state regulatory authority over tribal activities that are not directly
related to the conduct of class III gaming.

When we review a tribal-state compact or amendment submitted under IGRA, we look to
whether the provisions fall within the scope of categories prescribed at 25 U.S.C.

§ 2710(d)(3)(C). One of the most challenging aspects of this review is determining whether a
particular provision adheres to the “catch-all” category at § 2710(d)(3)(C)(vii): “...subjects that
are directly related to the operation of gaming activities.”

In the context of applying the “catch-all” category, we do not simply ask, “but for the existence
of the Tribe’s class III gaming operation, would the particular subject regulated under a compact
provision exist?” Instead, we must look to whether the regulated activity has a direct connection
to the Tribe’s conduct of class I1I gaming activities.

A. Consideration of resolution of hunting, fishing, and land use disputes

The exercise of aboriginal and reserved hunting and fishing rights has been described as “not
much less necessary to the existence of the Indians than the atmosphere they breathed.” United
States v. Winans, 198 U.S. 371 (1905). Federal law has ensured the protection of these rights:

Aboriginal title, along with its component hunting, fishing, and
gathering rights, remains in the tribe that possessed it unless it has
been granted to the United States by treaty, abandoned, or
extinguished by statute. See United States v. Santa Fe Pac. R.R.
Co., 314 U.S. 339, 347 (1941); Sac & Fox Tribe v. Licklider, 576
F.2d 145 (8111 Cir. 1978). A claim based on aboriginal title is good
against all but the United States. The power to extinguish
aboriginal title or aboriginal use rests exclusively with the federal
government. See, e.g., Oneida Indian Nation of New York v.
County of Oneida, 414 U.S. 661, 667 (1974); United States v.
Santa Fe Pac. RR. Co., 314 U.S. 339, 347 (1941). . . Aboriginal
rights will not be extinguished, however, absent “plain and
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unambiguous’ congressional intent. See County of Oneida v.
Oneida Indian Nation, 470 U.S. 226, 247-248 (1985)(quoting
United States v. Santa Fe Pac. R.R. Co., 314 U.S. 339, 346, 354
(1941)(congressional intent to extinguish original title must be
“plain and unambiguous,” and “will not be lightly implied™).

Cohen’s Handbook of Federal Indian Law § 18.01 [2012 Ed.] (2012 Cohen’s Handbook).

The Tribe has asserted to the Department that it requested this provision in an effort to resolve a
longstanding point of contention between it and the Commonwealth. We appreciate the efforts
of the Tribe and the Commonwealth to address these issues in a collaborative manner. However,
the Tribe’s hunting and fishing rights may not be placed upon the bargaining table when it
negotiates a class III gaming compact with the Commonwealth.

We must review the Compact according to the statutory limitations placed upon the compact
negotiation process. It is immaterial whether the Tribe or the Commonwealth requested that this
provision be included in the Compact. Section 9.2 of the Compact is clearly unrelated to the
operation of gaming activities, and is not permissible under IGRA. Moreover, Secretarial
approval of such a provision may violate the United States’ trust obligations to Indians, given
that such aboriginal rights can be extinguished only by Congress.”

While the resolution of these issues is certainly important to both the Tribe and the
Commonwealth, the Compact is neither the lawful nor the appropriate vehicle to do so. That
such an important issue has been included in the Compact here implicates the efforts of Congress
to limit the subjects of bargaining in IGRA.

? We also note that the Commonwealth’s Supreme Judicial Court, the highest appellate court in Massachusetts, has
already recognized the hunting and fishing rights of Wampanoag Indians, including the Mashpee:

Whether aboriginal rights exist is a factual matter. United States v. Santa Fe
Pac. R.R., 314 1.S. 339, 345 (1941). We note parenthetically that the Attorney
General's amicus brief contends that the "District Court did not make a factual
finding that the Defendants were descendants of the original Mashpee
Wampanoag Native Americans or that the Wampanoag Native Americans had
exercised exclusively and continuously their aboriginal fishing rights at the
places in question since time immemorial." But the judge did expressly find that
the defendants had tribal status and that "the Mashpee Indians have never given
up their usufruct rights to fish and have continued to exercise those rights as did
their forefathers, since time immemorial." Furthermore, he ruled that Indians are
not subject to shellfishing license requirements, and that the Commonwealth has
traditionally acknowledged and continues to acknowledge the usufruct rights of
the American Indian.

The Commonwealth conceded at trial that aboriginal rights have long been
recognized in the Commonwealth, and at least until 1941, such rights were
explicitly acknowledged by statute.

Commonwealth v. Maxim, 429 Mass. 287, 708 N.E2" 636 (Mass. 1999).
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B. Negotiation of Ancillary Agreements

In Section 2.12, the Commonwealth agreed to “use its best efforts to negotiate an agreement in
2013 with the Tribe to resolve certain title claims asserted by the Tribe involving land and water
in and around Mashpee[.]” Section 18.5.1 of the Compact provides that the Tribe and the
Commonwealth agree to negotiate an agreement in good faith that “addresses measures the Tribe
will use for the [collection] of state taxes that, pursuant to federal law, are applicable to activities
taking place upon, and to goods and services provided, received or consumed upon, the
Approved Gaming Site.”

For the same reasons described above, these provisions (Section 2.12 and Section 18.5.1) are
clearly unrelated to the Tribe’s conduct of gaming, and exceed the scope of permissible subjects
of negotiating under IGRA. While Section 18.5.1 expressly addresses the taxation of activities,
goods, and services on the Approved Gaming Site, its broad reach extends to activities that are
not directly related to the Tribe’s operation of gaming activities.

Therefore, we conclude that these provisions of the Compact extend beyond the prescribed
subjects of bargaining contained in 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3)(C) in violation of IGRA.

C. Regulation of Non-Gaming Suppliers

One other notable defined term in the Compact is “Non-Gaming Supplier,” which means “any
Person, other than a Management Contractor or employee of the Enterprise, who sells, leases or
provides goods or services to the Enterprise for the operation of the Facility, which are not used
by the Enterprise in the operation of Compact Games.” Compact § 3.42.

Part 7 of the Compact is titled, “Licensing and Registration,” and requires employees and
vendors to become licensed by the Tribe’s regulatory authority. This Part provides:

The Enterprise shall not conduct business with any Non-Gaming
supplier unless the Non-Gaming Supplier is registered with the
TGC and has provided such information as the TGC shall require
to become registered. Non-Gaming Suppliers include, but are not
limited to: construction companies, vending machine providers,
linen suppliers, garbage handlers, facility maintenance
companies...and such other persons or entities as may be identified
by the TGC as Non-Gaming Suppliers.”

Compact § 7.7.2.

Again, we must scrutinize this provision to ensure that it fits within the prescribed subjects of
bargaining contained within IGRA. The most relevant provisions of IGRA, for purposes of this
analysis, are found at 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3)(C)(vi) (pertaining to operation, maintenance, and
licensing of the facility) and § 2710(d)(3)(C)(vii) (pertaining to other subjects that are “directly
related” to the operation of gaming).

It is clear that the types of activities contemplated by Part 7 of the Compact are at least
tangentially related to the Tribe’s operation of gaming. The question is whether they are
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“directly related,” or otherwise pertain to the operation, maintenance, and licensing of the
facility.

As explained above, we must view the scope of prescribed state regulatory authority over tribal
gaming activities narrowly. This includes our understanding of the term “facility,” as used in
25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3)(C)(vi).

We cannot conclude that vending machine providers and linen suppliers, for example, implicate
the integrity of the Tribe’s gaming activities. Nor can we conclude that Part 7 of the Compact
implicates the state interests Congress sought to protect through IGRA’s compacting provisions.

If we were to approve this particular provision, it would extend the Commonwealth’s regulatory
authority beyond what Congress has allowed, potentially subjecting tribal citizens and businesses
to state regulation. This would inhibit the Tribe’s ability to promote economic development and
employment within its own community by entering into vendor contracts.

The Compact’s definition of a “Non-Gaming Supplier” expressly acknowledges that goods and
services provided by such persons are not used in the operation of gaming. See Compact § 3.42.
We conclude that these provisions of the Compact extend beyond the prescribed subjects of
negotiating contained in 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3)(C) and therefore violates IGRA.

D. Construction, Maintenance and Operation Standards

As noted above, Part 5 of the Compact includes provisions that regulate the “Construction,
Maintenance and Operation of [the] Facility.” Section 5.4.7 requires the Tribe to comply with
the National Environmental Policy Act and applicable Commonwealth law for any expansion or
modification of the Facility. Section 5.4.11 of the Compact provides:

Not less than fifteen (15) days before the Facility is open for
business, the Tribe shall certify to the MGC, and provide such
documentation to support the certification as the MGC requests,
that: (a) the Gaming Area and other ancillary entertainment
services and such non-gaming ancillary amenities the Tribe and the
MGC shall agree upon have been built in accordance with the
plans and specifications previously submitted to the MGC pursuant
to subpart 5.4.5; and (b) the infrastructure improvements and
traffic mitigation projects onsite and in the vicinity of the Facility
are complete in accordance with the plans previously submitted to
the MGC pursuant to subpart 5.4.5. Under no circumstances shall
the Tribe permit the Facility to open for business unless the
requirements of the subpart have been met (emphasis added).

As tribal gaming has matured, many tribes have developed businesses or amenities that are
ancillary to their gaming activities, such as hotels, conference centers, restaurants, spas, golf
courses, recreational vehicle parks, water parks, and marinas. These businesses are often located
near or adjacent to tribal gaming facilities. It does not necessarily follow, however, that such
ancillary businesses are “directly related to the operation of gaming activities” and therefore
subject to regulation through a tribal-state compact.
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While each compact is reviewed according to its unique facts and circumstances, the Department
often views such businesses and amenities as not “directly related to gaming activities” unless
class Il gaming is conducted within those businesses or the parties to the compact can
demonstrate particular circumstances establishing a direct connection between the business and
the class III gaming activities. Those particular circumstances must also implicate the state
interests Congress sought to protect through IGRA’s compacting provisions.

In this instance, the Compact purports to regulate “infrastructure improvements and traffic
mitigation projects onsite and in the vicinity of the Facility.” Compact § 5.4.11.

It is possible to read certain provisions of Part 5, such as Section 5.4.7, narrowly to avoid
reaching a determination that it violates the prescribed subjects of negotiating contained in
IGRA. See, e.g., Letter from Donald E. Laverdure, Acting Assistant Secretary — Indian Affairs
to Greg Sarris, Chairman of the Federated Indians of the Graton Rancheria (July 13, 2012)
(narrowly construing certain regulatory provisions in the compact to avoid a conflict with
IGRA). The Tribe has asserted that Section 5.4.11 is “non-regulatory and simply requires the
Tribe to provide information to the [Commonwealth].” First Compact Supplement at 6.

The language of Section 5.4.11 indicates otherwise, making it clear that “under no
circumstances” can the Tribe open the Facility if it has not satisfied this requirement. In other
words, the Compact precludes the Tribe from conducting class III gaming activities unless it
satisfies regulatory requirements related to infrastructure improvements “in the vicinity” of the
Facility — without regard as to whether those improvements are “directly related to the operation
of gaming activities.” 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3)(C).

We have determined that Section 5.4.11, by its terms, extends beyond the prescribed subjects of
bargaining contained in 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3)(C) and therefore violates IGRA. We cannot give
a narrow construction to this requirement to avoid reaching this conclusion.

2. Revenue Sharing Provisions

We review revenue sharing provisions in gaming compacts with great scrutiny, in accordance
with the principle that Indian tribes, not states or other parties, should be the primary
beneficiaries of Indian gaming revenues.

Our analysis as to whether such provisions comply with IGRA first requires us to determine
whether the Commonwealth has offered meaningful concessions to the Tribe. We view this
concept as one where the Commonwealth concedes something it was not otherwise required to
negotiate, such as granting the exclusive right to operate Class III gaming or other benefits
sharing a gaming-related nexus, to which the Tribe was not already entitled.” We then examine
whether the value of the concessions provides substantial economic benefits to the Tribe in a
manner justifying the revenue sharing required by the Compact.

We note that the Ninth Circuit’s recent decision in Rincon Band of Luiseno Mission Indians of
the Rincon Reservation v. Schwarzenegger’ favorably cited the Department’s long-standing

*See 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3)(c). This particular section of IGRA is discussed further below.

%602 F.3d 1019 (9th Cir. 2010), cert denied, 131 S. Ct. 3055 (2011).
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policy regarding revenue sharing. While Rincon is not binding here because it arose under
IGRA’s remedial provisions and involved facts and circumstances unique to the litigants, aspects
of the decision provide useful guidance.

A. Meaningful Concessions

The Tribe and the Commonwealth have asserted that the Commonwealth has made a number of
meaningful concessions to the Tribe to justify the receipt of 21.5 percent of the Tribe’s gaming
revenues. We believe that the Commonwealth has offered the Tribe a single meaningful
concession — the Tribe’s exclusive right to conduct gaming in Region C — to support revenue
sharing. We have addressed each purported concession below.

i Geographic Exclusivity

First among the asserted meaningful concessions is the protection of the Tribe’s exclusive right
to operate a gaming facility in a defined geographic area within the Commonwealth. Compact

§ 9.2. The Department has previously determined that compact provisions securing a tribe’s
exclusive right to conduct gaming in a defined geographic area constitutes a “meaningful
concession.” See Amendment to the Tribal-State Compact Between the St. Regis Mohawk Tribe
and the State of New York (2005).

In this instance, the Compact secures only the Tribe’s right to exclusivity vis-a-vis a facility
granted “a Category 1 License to operate a casino in Region C under the laws of the
Commonwealth.” Compact § 9.2.4. It does not secure the Tribe the ability to operate its facility
exclusive of a competing facility operating under a Category 2 License issued by the
Commonwealth. A Category 2 License “means a license issued by the [Commonwealth] that
permits the licensee to operate a gaming establishment with no table games and not more than
1,250 slot machines.”

Thus, the Tribe could still be faced with the prospect of competing against another facility
operating up to 1,250 slot machines in Region C, notwithstanding Section 9.2.4 of the Compact.

Under our test, we recognize that the Commonwealth was not required to concede any form of
gaming exclusivity to the Tribe nor was the Tribe entitled to such exclusivity. Therefore, we
have determined that the Commonwealth’s concession of geographic exclusivity is
“meaningful.”

While we have determined that the Commonwealth’s concession is meaningful, we note that the
value to the Tribe of having the exclusive right to operate a full-scale gaming facility including
table games within Region C (which is addressed below) may be substantially impaired by the
Commonwealth’s ability, not limited by the Compact, to issue a Category 2 License to a facility
within Region C to operate up to 1,250 slot machines. L

* Section 3.5 reflects the Commonwealth’s definition of a Category 2 licensee. See Chapter 23K § 2 of the
Massachusetts General Laws.

® We note that the Tribe’s Gaming Market Study, submitted as part of its supplemental information, does not address
the competitive impact on the Tribe’s proposed casino if the Commonwealth awarded the Category 2 license to
Plainridge Racecourse. Plainridge Racecourse, located in Plainville, MA, within the “Local Play” market identified
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il. First Casino Advantage

In the First Compact Supplement, the Tribe has asserted that the Commonwealth has conceded to
the Tribe the right to:

...operate the first casino in a constrained finite gaming market...,
and [has foregone], at great economic cost to the Commonwealth,
its alternative right under [Commonwealth law] to award the First
Casino Advantage to a commercial gaming company through
issuance in the Tribe’s region (“Region C” as defined in the
Compact) of a Category 1 license described in [Commonwealth
law].

First Compact Supplement at 2.

The Tribe has also asserted that the Commonwealth’s agreement to negotiate the Compact prior
to the Tribe possessing gaming-eligible land under IGRA secures the First Casino Advantage.
See Id.

We believe that this asserted concession is illusory, and that it does not constitute a meaningful
concession for purposes of this analysis.

The Compact does not contain any provisions that expressly secure the Tribe’s asserted right to
operate the first gaming facility in Region C Section 9.2 of the Compact secures the Tribe’s
exclusive right to operate a gaming facility in Region C, which we have explained does
constitute a meaningful concession. By definition, this exclusive right ensures that the Tribe will
enjoy the First Casino Advantage within Region C.

In an August 17, 2010 letter to the Governor of California, the Department disapproved a tribal-
state gaming compact between the State of California and the Habemetolel Pomo of Upper Lake.
Letter from Larry Echo Hawk, Assistant Secretary — Indian Affairs to Sherry Treppa,
Chairwoman of the Habemetolel Pomo of Upper Lake (2010 Upper Lake Letter). In that letter,
we explained that an additional concession of exclusivity in a limited geographic area, where the
Tribe already enjoyed the right to conduct gaming activities exclusive of non-tribal operators
throughout the entire State, was not meaningful.

In this instance, the Tribe’s right to operate the first full-scale gaming facility in Region C is
secured by Section 9.2 of the Compact, which we have already determined constitutes a distinct,
meaningful concession. We cannot consider the First Casino Advantage to be a separate and
distinct concession by the Commonwealth.

iii. Support for the Tribe’s Trust Acquisition Application

Section 9.1.6 of the Compact provides that the Governor of the Commonwealth will “cooperate
with and support” the Tribe’s efforts to acquire land in trust for gaming purposes within Region

by the Tribe’s Gaming Market Study supplement, began the application process for the sole Category 2 license in
August of 2012; see http://www.thesunchronicle.com/plainville/plainridge-racecourse-submits-check-to-apply-for-
slots-license/article 29285302-cf9f-575b-8457-f356%9a19adf5.html (last accessed October 11, 2012).
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C. It further adds that this support is a concession in exchange for the Tribe’s sharing of its
gaming revenues with the Commonwealth.

In a letter dated March 7, 2002, to the Governor of Louisiana, then-Assistant Secretary Neal
McCaleb explained that the State of Louisiana’s political support for the Jena Band of Choctaw
Indians’ trust acquisition application could not be used to justify revenue sharing payments under
the tribal-state compact between the State of Louisiana and the Jena Band of Choctaw Indians.
Letter from Neal McCaleb, Assistant Secretary — Indian Affairs to Mike Foster, Governor of the
State of Louisiana, March 7, 2002 (Jena Band Letter). In that letter, the Assistant Secretary
noted, “the State does not have the authority to either have the land taken into trust, or to have
the land declared part of the Band’s initial reservation. Both decisions are vested with the
Secretary of the Interior.” Jena Band Letter at 2.

In both the Jena Band Letter and the 2010 Upper Lake Letter, we explained that the purported
concessions were illusory — meaning that the State was not conceding anything at all to the
Tribe. Here, the Commonwealth’s offer of support to the Tribe’s application to have the
Department of the Interior acquire land in trust on its behalf is symbolic, and likely signals
improved relations between the Tribe and the Commonwealth. Nevertheless, it is not a
concession at all. The Commonwealth does not have the authority or ability to approve the
Tribe’s application, and is not giving anything tangible to the Tribe. Thus, this offer constitutes
an illusory concession to the Tribe and is not meaningful for purposes of this analysis.

iv. Consideration of resolution of hunting, fishing, and land use disputes

In this instance, the Tribe has asserted that the Commonwealth has made a meaningful
concession to justify revenue sharing under Section 9.2 of the Compact by agreeing to “use its
best efforts to negotiate an agreement with the Tribe to facilitate the exercise by the Tribe and its
members of aboriginal hunting and fishing rights on certain lands in the Commonwealth.” First
Compact Supplement at 3.

As discussed above, this provision is an impermissible subject of compact negotiations under
IGRA. Therefore, it cannot constitute a meaningful concession by the Commonwealth to the
Tribe to support revenue sharing.

V. Resolution of the Tribe’s Land Claims

Section 2.12 of the Compact states that, as a concession by the Commonwealth to the Tribe, it
will “use its best efforts to negotiate an agreement in 2013 with the Tribe to resolve certain title
claims asserted by the Tribe involving land and water in and around Mashpee, giving
consideration to the conveyance to the Tribe of some such land and water now publicly held.”

Congress explicitly sought to protect land and water rights from being the subject of compact
negotiations. States cannot use gaming as a lever to negotiate about rights such as these that are
arguably more fundamental than gaming.

For the same reasons as those relating to the purported concession of “consideration of resolution
of hunting, fishing, and land use disputes,” we have determined that this does not constitute a
meaningful concession by the Commonwealth, for purposes of revenue sharing.
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vi. Internet gaming and gaming over wireless, handheld devices

Section 4.3.2 of the Compact prohibits the Tribe from offering any form of internet gaming, as
defined in the Compact, unless it is authorized under both Federal and Commonwealth law. In
the event that such types of gaming activities are permitted by the Commonwealth, the Compact
authorizes the Tribe to conduct those activities on par with other entities under the laws of the
Commonwealth. Id.

Section 4.7 of the Compact authorizes the Tribe to utilize a “Wireless Gaming System,” as that
term is defined in the Compact.

As of today, the legality of internet gaming is uncertain throughout the United States. Congress
has been contemplating legislation to address internet gaming since at least 2008, but it is
difficult to predict whether Congress will ever enact such legislation. It is equally difficult to
predict whether such legislation may grant states regulatory authority over tribal internet gaming,
or permit tribes to operate internet gaming free of state regulation altogether. For purposes of
this analysis, the Commonwealth’s asserted concession of internet gaming cannot be considered
a meaningful concession.

The Tribe also asserts that the Commonwealth’s agreement to allow the Tribe to operate wireless
gaming is a meaningful concession. While wireless gaming technology is relatively new, insofar
as implementation, standards governing wireless gaming were published in 2007 by Gaming
Laboratory International.” On October 9, 2012, the New Jersey Attorney General’s Division of
Gaming Enforcement published temporary regulations to permit gaming on mobile devices. 3
Moreover, we are aware of at least three tribal gaming facilities offering wireless gaming today
without specific authority to do so in their respective class III gaming compacts.

Therefore, we do not view authority to operate wireless gaming as a concession at all because it
is simply an extension of the class III gaming already authorized by the Compact using a
different interface.

B. Substantial Economic Benefit

We must now examine whether the Commonwealth’s sole meaningful concession — the
exclusive right of the Tribe to conduct gaming in Region C — justifies the revenue sharing
provisions in the Compact. We determine that it does not.

The language of Section 9.2 of the Compact makes it clear that the Tribe and the Commonwealth
believe that the Tribe’s exclusive right to conduct gaming in Region C is worth 6.5 percent of the
Tribe’s Gross Gaming Revenue. The Compact does not contain any other concessions by the
Commonwealth to the Tribe that would justify revenue sharing beyond that rate.

7 See http://www.gaminglabs.com/downloads/GLI%20Standards/updated%20Standards/GLI-26%20v1.1.pdf (last
accessed on October 10, 2012). Gaming Laboratories International (GLI) is a gaming software and equipment test
laboratory. GLI or other, similar, certification is required by Part 4.8 of the Compact before a particular gaming
device model can be offered for play.

¥ See http://www.nj.gov/oag/newsreleases12/pr20121009a.html (last accessed on October 10, 2012).
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Section 9.2.1 requires the Tribe to pay 21.5 percent of its Gross Gaming Revenue to the
Commonwealth, in exchange for this meaningful concession. In the event that the Tribe’s
exclusive right to conduct gaming within Region C is abrogated, Section 9.2.4 provides the Tribe
with the option of either ceasing operation of class III gaming within 60 days’, or reducing its
revenue sharing obligation to a rate of 15 percent of Gross Gaming Revenues.

If the Tribe loses this exclusive right, its obligation to share revenues with the Commonwealth is
reduced by 6.5 percent.

Therefore, we must determine that the Commonwealth has made additional meaningful
concessions, beyond securing the Tribe’s exclusive right to conduct gaming in Region C, to
justify revenue sharing above a rate of 6.5 percent.

As we have explained above, the other purported concessions made by the Commonwealth to the
Tribe under the Compact do not constitute “meaningful concessions” that would justify revenue
sharing. Without additional meaningful concessions, revenue sharing at a rate of 15 percent as
required by the Compact would be unlawful.

In 1996, then-Assistant Secretary Ada Deer issued a letter to the Wampanoag Tribe of Gay Head
(Aquinnah) regarding a tribal-state compact it had entered into with the Commonwealth. Letter
from Ada Deer, Assistant Secretary — Indian Affairs to Beverly M. Wright, Chairperson of the
Wampanoag of Gay Head (July 23, 1996) (Aquinnah Letter). In the Aquinnah Letter, the
Assistant Secretary noted that the Aquinnah Wampanoag Tribe’s tribal-state compact with the
Commonwealth would have required that tribe to share revenues with the Commonwealth even
if the tribe were to lose its exclusive right to conduct gaming:

If the Tribe loses exclusivity after six years, it agrees to make a
cash contribution equal to the greater amount of a) the State’s
actual costs of regulation, licensing, and Compact oversight of its
gaming facility, plus 15 percent of the amount the Tribe would
have paid to the State under this compact if the exclusivity had
been maintained....This provision contemplates that if the Tribe
loses exclusivity rights after the first six years, it will be required
to continue to pay the State an amount in excess of actual costs to
regulate gaming.

Aquinnah Letter at 2.

The Assistant Secretary then expressed the Department’s concerns with this provision, which is
similar to Section 9.2 of the Compact at issue here:

We strongly advise that the provision be rewritten because we
believe that a requirement that the Tribe make indefinite payments
to the State beyond the cost of regulation even if the State removes
all restriction on competitive gambling renders the Compact
legally vulnerable. We believe that it is very likely that, if

? We are reserving analysis as to whether the “option” of ceasing gaming operations in event of the abrogation of the
Tribe’s exclusive gaming rights in Region C is permissible.
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litigated, a court would find that such payments are beyond the
scope of the statute.

Id. at 3.

The 1996 Aquinnah Letter demonstrates that the Department has had longstanding concerns with
the type of revenue sharing structure embodied in Section 9.2 of the Compact.

We have determined that the Commonwealth has not made meaningful concessions that would
confer a substantial economic benefit to the Tribe in a manner that would justify a revenue
sharing rate above and beyond 6.5 percent. Therefore, the revenue sharing provisions set forth in
Section 9.2 of the Compact constitute an impermissible tax, fee, charge, or other assessment in
violation of IGRA. See 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(4).

3. Other Concerns

The preceding discussion is sufficient for us to conclude that the Compact violates IGRA and
cannot be approved. Nevertheless, it is important to note that there are additional provisions
within the Compact that cause significant concern for the Department.

For example, Part 4 of the Compact purports to regulate the Tribe’s conduct of class II gaming
activities. We question whether the Commonwealth, through the negotiation of a class III
gaming compact, can exercise regulatory authority reserved exclusively to tribes and the
National Indian Gaming Commission under IGRA.

Likewise, Part 13 of the Compact appears to constrain the manner in which the Tribe can use net
revenues generated by its gaming facility. Given the fact that the Commonwealth would have
the ability to enforce the terms of the Compact, we question whether this would create an
impermissible conflict with the Federal Government’s and tribes’ regulatory authority under
IGRA.

Part 17 of the Compact addresses the allocation of criminal jurisdiction over the Tribe’s Gaming
Enclosure, which is permissible under IGRA to a limited extent. See 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3)(C)
(permitting the inclusion of provisions in a compact that allocate criminal and civil jurisdiction
“directly related to and necessary for” the licensing and regulation of gaming). In this instance,
the Compact purports to extend the Commonwealth’s criminal jurisdiction to cover all criminal
offenses, under the laws of the Commonwealth, to all persons within the Gaming Enclosure.
Compact Part 17. We question whether this would violate the limited reach of criminal
jurisdiction allowed under IGRA or other Federal laws pertaining to criminal jurisdiction in
Indian Country.

It was not necessary for us to analyze these provisions to make the determination to disapprove
the Compact. But, it is possible that these provisions — as written, or as potentially applied —
could also violate IGRA and provide us with separate bases to disapprove the Compact. We
would scrutinize these provisions carefully in any future submissions by the Tribe and the
Commonwealth.
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CONCLUSION

Based on this analysis I find that the Compact is in violation of IGRA. Therefore, we hereby
disapprove the Compact.

We appreciate the efforts of the Commonwealth and the Tribe to attempt to reach an agreement
on important matters affecting their relationship. We deeply regret that this decision is
necessary, and understand that it constitutes a significant setback for the Tribe. Nevertheless, the
Department is committed to upholding IGRA and cannot approve a compact that violates IGRA
in the manner described above.

We strongly encourage the Commonwealth to negotiate a new class III gaming compact with the
Tribe in good faith and in accordance with IGRA so that the Tribe may proceed with its efforts to
develop its economy for the benefit of its citizens.

A similar letter has been sent to the Honorable Cedric Cromwell, Chairperson, Mashpee
Wampanoag Tribe.

Sincerely,

\
Kr‘ W hh

.-"\fsmta Setretary — Indian Affairs



